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Independent Auditors’ Report 

The Board of Trustees 

Save the Children Federation, Inc.: 

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Save the Children Federation, Inc. and related 

entities (the Organization), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as of December 31, 

2022, and the related consolidated statements of activities, functional expenses, and cash flows for the year 

then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 

consolidated financial position of Save the Children Federation, Inc. and related entities as of December 31, 

2022, and the changes in its net assets and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 

U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 

America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 

issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under those standards are further 

described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our 

report. We are required to be independent of the Organization and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in 

accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we 

have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Emphasis of Matter 

As discussed in Note 2(r) to the financial statements, in 2022, the Organization adopted Accounting Standards 

Update No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842). Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter. 

Responsibilities of Management for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in 

accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, and for the design, implementation, and 

maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial 

statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are 

conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Organization’s ability 

to continue as a going concern for one year after the date the consolidated financial statements are available to 

be issued. 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a 

whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that 

includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and 
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therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing 

Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material 

misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 

forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are 

considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence 

the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the consolidated financial statements. 

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we: 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether 

due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures 

include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated 

financial statements. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 

the Organization’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting 

estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the consolidated financial 

statements. 

• Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise 

substantial doubt about the Organization’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of 

time. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 

planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control related matters that 

we identified during the audit. 

Report on Summarized Comparative Information 

We have previously audited Save the Children Federation Inc. and related entities’ 2021 consolidated financial 

statements, and we expressed an unmodified audit opinion on those audited consolidated financial statements 

in our report dated June 1, 2022. In our opinion, the summarized comparative information presented herein as 

of and for the year ended December 31, 2021 is consistent, in all material respects, with the audited 

consolidated financial statements from which it has been derived. 

Supplementary Information 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements as a 

whole. The accompanying schedule of computation of indirect costs rates for the year ended December 31, 

2022 is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the consolidated financial 

statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to 

the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements. The 

information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the consolidated financial 

statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to 

the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements or to the 

consolidated financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing 

standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the schedule of the computation 

of indirect cost rates are fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the consolidated financial statements 

as a whole. 
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Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated May 31, 2023, on 

our consideration of the Organization’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its 

compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. 

The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial 

reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of 

the Organization’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an 

audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the Organization’s internal 

control over financial reporting and compliance. 

 

New York, New York 

May 31, 2023, except for our report on the supplementary schedule of computation of indirect cost rates, which 

is as of August 7, 2023.  



SAVE THE CHILDREN FEDERATION, INC. AND RELATED ENTITIES

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

December 31, 2022
(with comparative financial information as of December 31, 2021)

(In thousands)

Assets 2022 2021

Cash and cash equivalents (note 14) $ 121,108 79,026
Grants and contracts receivable (notes 2(b), 2(c), and 14) 98,067 77,309
Contributions receivable, net (note 6) 23,901 24,806
Inventory 10,725 8,160
Due from Save the Children International, net (note 2(f)) 14,189 29,217
Prepaid expenses and other assets 4,466 2,222
Investments (notes 3 and 4) 187,798 219,676
Assets of pooled income fund and charitable gift annuities (notes 2(e) and 4) 2,688 3,792
Operating lease right-of-use assets, net (notes 2(l), 2(r) and 12) 34,565 —
Property, plant and equipment, net (note 7) 6,555 5,420
Beneficial interests in perpetual trusts held by third parties (note 4) 14,383 17,333

Total assets $ 518,445 466,961

Liabilities and Net Assets

Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 77,763 52,511
Operating lease liabilities (notes 2(l), 2(r) and 12) 39,514 —
Deferred revenue (notes 2(b), 2(c), and 14) 62,165 47,975
Postretirement benefits other than pensions (note 10) 3,763 4,269

Total liabilities 183,205 104,755

Commitments and contingencies (notes 3, 8, 9, 10, 12, 13, and 14)

Net assets:
Without donor restrictions:

Undesignated 30,499 36,197
Board-designated operating reserve (notes 2(c) and 16) 14,611 11,041
Board-designated endowment (notes 5 and 16) 106,346 129,211
Investment in property, plant, and equipment (note 7) 6,555 4,946

Total net assets without donor restrictions 158,011 181,395

With donor restrictions:
Purpose restricted (notes 5 and 11) 112,307 118,884
Donor-restricted endowment corpus (notes 5, 11, and 16) 50,539 44,594
Beneficial interests in perpetual trusts held by third

parties (notes 4 and 11) 14,383 17,333

Total net assets with donor restrictions 177,229 180,811

Total net assets 335,240 362,206

Total liabilities and net assets $ 518,445 466,961

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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SAVE THE CHILDREN FEDERATION, INC. AND RELATED ENTITIES

Consolidated Statement of Activities

Year ended December 31, 2022
(with summarized comparative financial information for the year ended December 31, 2021)

(In thousands)

2022
Without donor With donor 2021

restrictions restrictions Total Total

Operating revenue:
Contributions of cash and other financial assets $ 273,868 157,059 430,927 318,808
Contributions of non-financial assets (note 2(d)) 1,310 55,186 56,496 62,817
U.S. government grants and contracts (note 14) 511,771 — 511,771 419,008
Sponsorships — 40,378 40,378 73,169
Commodities and freight (notes 2(d) and 14) 48,842 — 48,842 64,480
Fee for service contracts 1,101 — 1,101 992
Bequests (note 2(c)) 10,239 1,040 11,279 6,879
Net investment return appropriated for operations (notes 3 and 5) 6,761 1,732 8,493 7,292
Other 519 23 542 599

854,411 255,418  1,109,829 954,044

Net assets released from restrictions 252,566 (252,566) — —

Total operating revenue 1,106,977 2,852 1,109,829 954,044

Operating expenses (note 2(f)):
Program services:

Program activities (note 15) 226,980 — 226,980 182,587
Program activities – Save the Children International (note 15) 670,993 — 670,993 561,913
Program development and public policy support 54,209 — 54,209 48,556

Total program services 952,182 — 952,182 793,056

Supporting services:
Management and general 40,426 — 40,426 28,236
Management and general – Save the Children International 32,054 — 32,054 22,462
Fund-raising 83,284 — 83,284 89,963

Total supporting services 155,764 — 155,764 140,661

Total operating expenses 1,107,946 — 1,107,946 933,717

(Deficiency) excess of operating revenue over expenses before net transfers (969) 2,852 1,883 20,327

Net transfers (to) from operating revenue (note 2(c)) (3,570) — (3,570) 3,496

(Deficiency) excess of operating revenue over expenses (4,539) 2,852 (1,687) 23,823

Nonoperating activities:
Net investment (loss) return (less than) in excess of appropriated

for operations (22,656) (8,838) (31,494) 11,045
Foreign currency exchange and derivative instruments gain (loss) (210) (164) (374) 449
Endowment contributions and transfers — 5,551 5,551 534
Transfers, net (note 2(c)) 3,570 — 3,570  (3,496) 
Contributions and changes in value of split-interest agreements (380) (2,954) (3,334) 1,943
Post-retirement changes other than net periodic benefit costs (note 10) 1,395 — 1,395  1,123
Other (564) (29) (593) (680)

Total nonoperating activities (18,845) (6,434) (25,279) 10,918

(Decrease) increase in net assets (23,384) (3,582) (26,966) 34,741

Net assets at beginning of year 181,395 180,811 362,206 327,465

Net assets at end of year $ 158,011 177,229 335,240 362,206

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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SAVE THE CHILDREN FEDERATION, INC. AND RELATED ENTITIES

Consolidated Statement of Functional Expenses

Year ended December 31, 2022
(with summarized comparative financial information for the year ended December 31, 2021)

(In thousands)

Program services Supporting services
Program

development
Program and public Total
activities policy Total program Management supporting 2022 2021
(note 15) support services and general Fundraising services Total Total

Salaries $ 59,753 26,620 86,373 19,827 20,184 40,011  126,384  104,413
Employee fringe benefits (notes 9 and 10) 17,597 7,139 24,736 5,985 5,381 11,366 36,102 32,311

Total salaries and related expenses 77,350 33,759 111,109 25,812 25,565 51,377 162,486 136,724

Grants to and charges from SCI 670,993 — 670,993 32,054 — 32,054 703,047 584,375
Grants to other agencies 103,921 959 104,880 — — — 104,880 80,031
Commodities and freight 3 — 3 — 23 23 26  13,446
Supplies, materials, etc. 16,952 380 17,332 1,431 2,603 4,034 21,366 12,536
Travel 3,775 1,186 4,961 504 490 994 5,955 1,566
Professional fees 11,980 4,510 16,490 7,671 14,134 21,805 38,295 22,440
Advertising (note 2(d)) 195 9,144 9,339 13 26,660 26,673 36,012 51,936
Occupancy (note 12) 6,548 2,305 8,853 1,747 923 2,670 11,523 9,393
Printing 221 23 244 42 5,381 5,423 5,667 4,558
Telecommunications 957 330 1,287 77 2,229 2,306 3,593 3,860
Postage and shipping 1,525 31 1,556 48 2,976 3,024 4,580 3,119
Depreciation and amortization 1,036 81 1,117 492 459 951 2,068 2,545
Other 2,517 1,501 4,018 2,589 1,841 4,430 8,448 7,188

Total expenses $ 897,973 54,209  952,182 72,480 83,284  155,764  1,107,946  933,717

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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SAVE THE CHILDREN FEDERATION, INC. AND RELATED ENTITIES

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Year ended December 31, 2022
(with comparative financial information for the year ended December 31, 2021)

(In thousands)

2022 2021

Cash flows from operating activities:
(Decrease) increase in net assets $ (26,966) 34,741
Adjustments to reconcile (decrease) increase in net assets to net cash provided

by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 2,068 2,545
Gain on disposal of property (2) —
Change in gifts-in-kind and other inventory (2,565) (3,270)
Net depreciation (appreciation) in fair value of investments 25,139 (17,926)
Contributions restricted for long-term investment (5,551) (534) 
Change in beneficial interests in perpetual trusts held by third Parties 2,950 (1,387) 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Grants and contracts receivable (20,758) (17,128) 
Contributions receivable 6,064 8,492
Due from Save the Children International, net 15,028 4,202
Prepaid expenses and other assets (2,244) (158) 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 25,252 19,350
Deferred revenue 14,190 (8,159) 
Postretirement benefits other than pensions (506) (1,387)
Operating lease liabilities 4,949 —

Net cash provided by operating activities 37,048 19,381

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property, plant, and equipment (3,205) (534) 
Proceed from sale of assets 4 —
Purchases of investments (147,924) (97,063) 
Proceeds from sale of investments 154,663 102,063

Net cash provided by investing activities 3,538 4,466

Cash flows from financing activities:
Contributions received for long-term investment 392 1,382
Receipt (distribution) of split interest agreements, net 1,104 (545) 

Net cash provided by financing activities 1,496 837

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 42,082 24,684

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 79,026 54,342

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 121,108 79,026

Supplemental cash flow information:
Donated non-financial assets $ 56,496 62,817
Commodities 48,842 64,480
Acquisition of land partially financed by trade payable 1,203 474

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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SAVE THE CHILDREN FEDERATION, INC. AND RELATED ENTITIES 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

December 31, 2022 

(With summarized comparative financial information as of and 

for the year ended December 31, 2021) 

(Amounts in thousands) 

8 (Continued) 

(1) Organization and Purpose

Save the Children Federation, Inc. (SCUS) was established in 1932 and operates as a voluntary,

nonsectarian, nonprofit organization in the United States of America and throughout the world providing

services for children and community self-help assistance.

SCUS is a member of Save the Children Association (SCA), a Swiss membership organization. SCA

currently has 30 independent, autonomous, nonprofit, private, voluntary membership organizations that

bear the name Save the Children or a related designation (the Members). SCA created Save the Children

International (SCI), a United Kingdom based charitable entity, of which SCA is the sole member, and

therefore, SCI is a wholly owned subsidiary of SCA.

In 2011, SCUS, in concert with the 29 other independent Members, entered into a series of agreements to

create a single global program delivery platform through SCI. Under these agreements, SCUS works with

other Members through the SCI platform to deliver nondomestic programs to benefit children. SCUS

continues to design programs, coordinate with donors, and provide technical assistance to ensure program

quality, monitoring, and reporting. The costs of implementing programs through the SCI structure are

covered by program funds raised by SCUS (and other Members) and the allocation of administrative

expenses among the Members.

In addition to the program delivery platform and cost-sharing, SCUS and other Members agreed to transfer

certain in-country program assets to SCI to facilitate the delivery of programs overseas. SCUS started to

transition country offices in 2011. As of December 31, 2022, one country office had not yet transitioned to

SCI. SCUS is continuing to work towards transitioning this office to SCI and currently is operating under a

pre-transition agreement.

SCUS Head Start Programs, Inc. (Head Start) began operations in 2012 as a voluntary, nonsectarian,

nonprofit organization in the United States of America delivering early childhood development

programming. SCUS is the sole member of Head Start, and accordingly, Head Start is a consolidated

related entity.

Save the Children Action Network, Inc. (SCAN) was established in March 2014 as a nonprofit organization

organized and operated exclusively for purposes related to the social welfare of children. SCUS is the sole

member of SCAN, and accordingly, SCAN is a consolidated related entity. In 2022, SCAN established

Save the Children Action Network New Mexico IE Committee (SCAN NM), a 527 Independent Expenditure

Committee, which is controlled by SCAN.

Community Development Aquaventures Pte. Ltd. (CDA) and SCF Social Ventures Pte. Ltd. (SCF) were

incorporated in September 2020 as exempt private companies limited by shares. PT Solusi Masyarakat

Mandiri (PT SMM) was incorporated in March 2021 as an LLC with ownership shares from CDA and SCF.

SCUS is the sole member of CDA and SCF, and accordingly, CDA, SCF, and PT SMM are consolidated

related entities.



SAVE THE CHILDREN FEDERATION, INC. AND RELATED ENTITIES 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

December 31, 2022 

(With summarized comparative financial information as of and 

for the year ended December 31, 2021) 

(Amounts in thousands) 

9 (Continued) 

(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Basis of Accounting

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of SCUS, Head Start, SCAN, CDA, SCF

and PT SMM (collectively, the Organization) and have been prepared using the accrual basis of

accounting in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). All significant

intercompany account balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Net assets are classified based on the existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions.

Accordingly, the Organization’s net assets and changes therein are classified and reported as follows:

• Without donor restrictions – Net assets that are not subject to donor-imposed restrictions or the

donor-imposed restrictions have expired, as well as net assets designated by the Organization’s

Board of Trustees.

• With donor restrictions – Net assets that are subject to donor-imposed restrictions. These include

net assets that are subject to time or purpose restrictions and donor restricted endowments. Assets

with time or purpose restrictions are satisfied either by the passage of time or by actions of the

Organization. Donor restricted endowments must be maintained permanently by the Organization

and only the income may be used as specified by the donor. Donor restricted endowments consist

primarily of the historical dollar value of contributions to donor-restricted endowment funds.

Revenue is reported as increases in net assets without donor restrictions unless their use is limited by 

donor-imposed restrictions. Expenses are reported as decreases in net assets without donor 

restrictions. If an expense is incurred for a purpose for which net assets with donor restrictions are 

available, a donor-imposed restriction is fulfilled to the extent of the expense incurred. When a donor 

restriction expires, that is, when a stipulated time restriction ends or purpose restriction is 

accomplished, net assets with donor restrictions are reclassified to net assets without donor restrictions 

and reported as release from restrictions in the consolidated statement of activities. The Organization 

adopts the simultaneous release option for donor-restricted conditional grants that are recognized and 

used within the same reporting period, and thus are reported as net assets without donor restrictions. 

Gains and losses on investments are reported as increases or decreases in net assets without donor 

restrictions unless their use is restricted by donors or by law. 

(b) United States Government Grants and Contracts

The Organization receives funding under grants and contracts from the government of the United

States of America (U.S.) for direct and indirect program costs and to provide certain whole or partial

sub-grants to other agencies. This funding is subject to U.S. government restrictions, which must be

met through incurring qualifying expenses for particular programs. Revenue from U.S. government

grants and contracts is recognized when funds are utilized by the Organization to carry out the activity,



SAVE THE CHILDREN FEDERATION, INC. AND RELATED ENTITIES 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

December 31, 2022 

(With summarized comparative financial information as of and 

for the year ended December 31, 2021) 

(Amounts in thousands) 

10 (Continued) 

accomplish the milestones/objectives, or meet performance obligations stipulated in the grant or 

contract agreement. 

2022 2021

U.S. government grants and contracts receivable, net $ 86,208 62,413

U.S. government deferred revenue 5,018 2,253

U.S. government obligated conditional contributions

(2023-2028) 526,900 432,203

U.S. government obligated conditional grants by SCUS to

subrecipients (2023-2027) 359,074 336,101

Fees related to U.S. government contracts are recognized as earned. Fees earned are reported on the 

consolidated statement of activities as other income. 

(c) Contributions, Private Grants, and Other Public Sources

The Organization receives funding under grants and contributions from United Nations agencies and

other public and private grantors, for direct and indirect program costs and to provide certain whole or

partial subgrants to other agencies. This funding may be subject to donor restrictions, which must be

met through incurring qualifying expenses for particular programs.

2022 2021

Non-U.S. government grants and contracts receivable, net $ 11,859 14,896

Non-U.S. government deferred revenue 57,147 45,722

Non-U.S. government obligated conditional contributions

(2023-2027) 202,822 250,526

Non-U.S. government obligated conditional grants by

SCUS to subrecipients (2023-2027) 248,449 200,488

Public and private grants or contributions are conditional if the agreement includes both a barrier that 

must be overcome for the recipient to be entitled to the assets transferred and a right of return for the 

transferred asset or a right of release of the promisor’s obligation to the transferred assets. Conditional 

contributions received with donor-imposed barriers are recognized as revenue when the barriers have 

been met. Amounts received in advance of satisfying the donor-imposed barriers are reported as 

deferred revenue until the barriers are met. 

Unconditional contributions are recognized as revenue at fair value when received or pledged. Fair 

value is estimated giving consideration to anticipated future cash receipts (after allowance is made for 

uncollectible contributions) and discounting anticipated future cash receipts at a risk-adjusted rate for 

the duration of the donor’s payment plan. Amortization of the discount is recorded as additional 



SAVE THE CHILDREN FEDERATION, INC. AND RELATED ENTITIES 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

December 31, 2022 

(With summarized comparative financial information as of and 

for the year ended December 31, 2021) 

(Amounts in thousands) 
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contribution revenue. An allowance for uncollectible contributions is estimated based upon prior year 

collection history and analysis of past-due amounts. Time or purpose restrictions on the use of 

contributions are satisfied by passage of time or use of funds, and released from restriction, 

accordingly. 

Bequest income is recorded when the will has gone through probate, is declared legally valid, and the 

interests that the Organization has in a decedent’s estate are reasonably estimated and assured to be 

received. The Board of Trustees has determined by resolution that bequest income without donor 

restrictions is included in operating revenue up to the current year board approved budget for bequest 

revenue. In the event there is an excess of unrestricted bequests, this will first make up any operating 

unrestricted revenue shortfall, and the remainder will be reclassified to board-designated operating 

reserves under nonoperating activities. 

Per the Organization’s financial resources policy, operating surplus is transferred to the operating 

reserve up to a maximum of 6% of unrestricted expense budget, as determined by resolution of the 

Board of Trustees. The amounts classified as board-designated funds may be released to address key 

strategic purposes as determined by the management team. In 2022, the Organization transferred 

$3,570 to the board-designated operating reserve, per prior year surplus, by resolution of the Board of 

Trustees. In 2022 and 2021, respectively, the Organization released $0 and $3,496 for operations from 

the reserve. 

(d) Gifts-in-Kind, Donated Services, and Commodities

The Organization receives various forms of gift-in-kind (GIK) including media, food and non-food items

such as books and household goods, in-kind services, and cryptocurrency. GIK are reported as

contributions at their estimated fair value on the date of receipt and reported as expense when utilized.

GIK are valued based upon estimates of fair market or wholesale values that would be received for

selling the goods in their principal market considering their condition and utility for use at the time the

goods are contributed by the donor. Donated GIK are not sold and goods are only distributed for

program use. Cryptocurrency is held only until sold by a third party crypto donation platform.



SAVE THE CHILDREN FEDERATION, INC. AND RELATED ENTITIES 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

December 31, 2022 

(With summarized comparative financial information as of and 

for the year ended December 31, 2021) 

(Amounts in thousands) 
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Non-financial contributions Type of contributions

category for beneficiaries Valuation 2022 2021

Media Digital, broadcast, and public Third-party estimates using billing

service announcements rates in like circumstances $ 12,059  29,037  

Food and non-food items Food, books, hygiene products, U.S. wholesale prices of identical

and household goods or similar products 41,378  27,289  

In-kind services Professional services such as Standard industry pricing for

human resources consulting, facilities, similar services 1,395  1,088  

freight and legal pro bono services

Cryptocurrency Digital currency Converted to cash by third party

processor 1,664  5,403  

Total $ 56,496  62,817  

A substantial number of individuals have volunteered significant amounts of their time to program and 

supporting functions; however, these services do not meet the criteria for recognition in accordance 

with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles and, therefore, are not recorded in the 

accompanying consolidated financial statements. 

Donated commodities under awards are reported at fair value and recognized as revenue and expense 

when the commodities are distributed for program purposes and received by the recipients. During the 

years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Organization was granted, under awards, certain 

agricultural commodities for famine relief and food aid, medical commodities for health programming, 

and other nonfood items. The commodities and related freight, where applicable, are detailed below: 

Commodity

type 2022 2021

World Food Programme Agricultural $ 30,884 27,037

The Global Fund Pharmaceutical 8,126 9,070

United States Department of Agriculture Agricultural 5,057 10,076

USAID Agricultural 4,388 3,712

Various organizations or vendors from USDA Agricultural 258 13,446

Various organizations from USAID Agricultural 128 —

Catholic Relief Services from USAID Agricultural — 792

Other private vendors Other nonfood 1 347

$ 48,842 64,480

Food commodities supplied to the Organization through U.S. government programs managed by 

U.S. Agency for International Development (USAID) or U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) are 
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valued according to commercial prices paid as stated on the purchase order and ocean bill of lading. 

USAID/USDA food commodities are procured by the Farm Service Agency, the procurement arm of 

USDA that purchases all food commodities on behalf of international nongovernmental organizations 

(NGOs) and the World Food Programme (WFP), on the U.S. commercial market using funds granted to 

the Organization. 

Other WFP contracts procure commodities through the conduct of its own competitive tender 

solicitations in various countries around the world. The value of those commodities is the amount WFP 

pays to its commercial vendors. The freight portion of the WFP commodity value is the amount WFP 

pays to carriers who are contracted through the solicitation of competitive offers. 

(e) Split-Interest Agreements

Split-interest agreements consist of charitable gift annuities, charitable remainder unitrusts, charitable

lead annuity trusts, pooled income funds, and perpetual trusts. Such split-interest agreements provide

for payments to the donors, their beneficiaries, based upon either the income earned on related

investments, or the specified annuity amounts. Assets held under these arrangements are reported at

fair value in the accompanying consolidated statement of financial position. Contribution revenue is

recognized at the date of the trust or the annuity contract are established, and liabilities are recorded

for the present value of the estimated future payments expected to be made to the donors and/or other

beneficiaries. The liabilities are adjusted annually for changes in the life expectancy of the donor or

beneficiary, amortization of the discount, and other changes in the estimate of future payments and

recognized as a nonoperating activity. The related liability split-interest agreements is included in

accounts payable and accrued liabilities in the accompanying consolidated statement of financial

position.

Investments of charitable gift annuities held by Save the Children Federation, Inc. as of

December 2022 and 2021, respectively, are $2,688 and $3,792. The related liability is included in

accounts payable and accrued liabilities in the accompanying consolidated statement of financial

position in the amount of $1,161 and $1,422 for 2022 and 2021, respectively.

(f) Functional Expenses

The Organization allocates expenses on a functional basis among its various programs and supporting

services. Expenses that can be identified with a specific program or supporting service are reported,

accordingly. Other expenses that are common to several functions are allocated by various statistical

bases, which attribute the cost to functional categories. Statistical bases utilized include, but are not

limited to, square footage occupied by business units and estimated time and effort supporting other

functions.

The Organization conducts activities related to fundraising that have elements of other functions, such

as program services (advocacy), for which the fundraising expenses are allocated (joint costs). For

2022, the total expense included in the allocation is $36,772 and $39,369 for 2022 and 2021,

respectively. Of the totals, $14,114 and $12,620 is allocated to program services and $22,658 and

$26,749 are allocated to supporting services, in 2022 and 2021, respectively. These costs include GIK
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for media and broadcast time, salaries for staff dependent on the nature of work, and campaigns, which 

are reviewed for intent of messaging, and nature of support. 

Other expenses represents the aggregate of various other program service costs (community labor 

expense and cash transfer programs) and items not individually classified in the accompanying 

consolidated statement of functional expenses due to their varying nature and amount from year to 

year (includes items such as event expense, bank charges, credit card fees, reference materials, bad 

debt, and membership fees). 

Program activities include costs of the Organization associated with the delivery of programs relating to 

education, child rights governance, child protection, child poverty, and health and nutrition. Program 

activities – SCI includes these activities implemented through SCI. Program development and public 

policy support relate to the development and technical support of programs and the advocacy efforts in 

support of the children. Management and general – SCI represents the Organization’s payment of 

SCI’s management and general expense. 

Due from SCI, net includes the amounts advanced by the Organization for program operations and 

working capital to achieve programmatic objectives. 

(g) Measure of Operations

The Organization includes in its measure of operations all revenues and expenses that are integral to

its program services and supporting services. The measure of operations for the years ended

December 31, 2022 and 2021 includes investment return appropriated for operations and transfers

from operating reserve as mentioned in note 2(c) and excludes investment returns in excess of or less

than the amount appropriated for operations, transfers to board-designated and operating reserve as

mentioned in note 2(c), increases or decreases in donor-restricted endowment funds, foreign currency

exchange and derivative instruments gains/losses, contributions and changes in value of split-interest

agreements, post-retirement changes other than net periodic benefit cost, and other nonrecurring

transactions.

(h) Foreign Currency Translation and Derivative Instruments

Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into U.S. dollars, the reporting

currency at exchange rates in effect at the consolidated statement of financial position date, and

revenue and expenses are translated at rates, which approximate those in effect on transaction dates.

Net transaction and translation gains and losses are included as foreign currency exchange gain or

loss in the accompanying consolidated statement of activities.

The Organization transacted derivative instruments, specifically foreign currency forward contracts,

primarily to maintain a predictable level of funding for certain sponsorship operations. Nonoperating

gain (loss) on foreign currency forward contracts as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 is $0 and $901,

respectively.
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(i) Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Organization considers all highly liquid debt instruments purchased with original maturities of

three months or less, other than those held as part of the investment portfolio, to be cash equivalents.

(j) Investments

Investments with readily determinable fair values are reported at fair value based upon quoted market

prices or published net asset values for alternative investments with characteristics similar to a mutual

fund. Other alternative investments (nontraditional, not readily marketable vehicles), such as certain

hedge funds, private equity, private company preferred stock shares, alternative hedged strategies,

and real assets are reported at net asset value, as a practical expedient for estimated fair value, as

provided by the investment managers of the respective funds. These values are reviewed and

evaluated by the Organization’s management for reasonableness. The reported values may differ from

the values that would have been reported had a ready market for these investments existed. All other

investments are stated at fair value based upon quoted market prices in active markets.

Purchases and sales of securities are recorded on a trade-date basis. Realized gains and losses are

determined on the basis of average cost of securities sold and are reflected in the consolidated

statement of activities. Dividend income is recorded on the ex-dividend date, and interest income is

recorded on an accrual basis.

(k) Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a

liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly

transaction between market participants on the measurement date. U.S. GAAP requires the

Organization to disclose the fair value of each of its assets and liabilities based on the level of

observable inputs. The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are as follows:

• Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that

a reporting entity has the ability to access at the measurement date or published net asset value for

alternative investments with characteristics similar to a mutual fund.

• Level 2 inputs are inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for

the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.

• Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which a fair value measurement falls, in its entirety, is based 

on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement. 

(l) Leases

Transactions give rise to leases when the Organization receives substantially all the economic benefits

from and has the ability to direct the use of specified property, plant, and equipment. The Organization

has lessee activity that is classified as operating leases. Operating leases are included in operating
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lease right-of-use assets and operating lease liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial 

position unless the term of the lease is 12 months or less. 

Right-of-use assets represent the right to use underlying assets for the lease term and lease liabilities 

represent obligations to make lease payments arising from the lease. Operating lease right-of-use 

assets and liabilities are recognized at the commencement date based on the present value of lease 

payments over the lease term. The Organization uses the risk free rate at lease commencement to 

perform a lease classification test and to measure the lease liability and right-of-use asset. Lease 

expense for operating lease payments is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

(m) Property, Plant, and Equipment

Property, plant, and equipment are stated at cost if purchased or fair value on date of contribution.

Depreciation and amortization are computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of

the respective assets. Capitalized costs incurred in connection with ongoing capital projects are

recorded as construction in progress. These costs will be reclassified into categories and depreciated

once placed in service.

The estimated useful lives by asset class are as follows:

Years

Buildings 25–50

Building improvements 10

Vehicles and machinery 5

Furniture and office equipment 5

Software and computer equipment 3–5

(n) Tax Status

The Internal Revenue Service has ruled that, pursuant to Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue

Code (the Code), SCUS and Head Start are exempt from federal income taxes and are publicly

supported organizations, as defined in Section 509(a)(1) of the Code. Effective March 11, 2014, the

Internal Revenue Service determined that SCAN is exempt from federal income tax under

Section 501(c)(4) of the Code. In August 2022, SCAN NM filed a notice of Section 527 status. As

not-for-profit organizations, SCUS, Head Start, SCAN, and SCAN NM are exempt from state and local

income taxes. CDA and SCF were incorporated in Singapore in September 2020 as exempt private

companies limited by shares. PT SMM was incorporated in Indonesia in 2021 as an LLC.

The Organization follows the guidance of Accounting Standards Codification Topic 740, Income Taxes,

related to uncertainties in income taxes, which prescribes a threshold of more likely than not for

recognition and derecognition of tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. The

Organization believes it has taken no significant uncertain tax positions.
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(o) Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires

management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and

liabilities and disclosures of contingencies at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the

reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Estimates made in the

preparation of the consolidated financial statements include the fair value of GIK, operating lease

liability and the valuation of investments. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

(p) Inventory

Inventory consists of program materials and emergency response supplies not used as of

December 31st. Inventory is recorded at cost on purchase, while contributed inventory is recorded at

fair value. Inventory is reduced and expensed when used and distributed.

(q) Presentation of Certain Prior Year Information

The consolidated statements of activities and functional expenses include certain prior year

summarized consolidated financial information for comparative purposes only, such information does

not include sufficient detail to constitute a presentation in conformity with U.S. GAAP. Accordingly, such

information should be read in conjunction with the Organization’s consolidated financial statements for

the year ended December 31, 2021 from which the summarized information was derived.

(r) Recent Accounting Pronouncement

ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842) – This guidance, effective for the Organization’s fiscal year

ended December 31, 2022, is designed to increase transparency and comparability among

organizations by recognizing lease assets and lease liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet and

disclosing key information about leasing arrangements. The Organization adopted this ASU using the

modified retrospective transition approach and the effective date method, which allowed the

Organization to apply the new leases standard at the adoption date of January 1, 2022. As of

December 31, 2022, the Organization recognized a lease liability of $39,514, which represented the

present value of remaining lease payments of $42,000 and a right-of-use asset of $34,565 using the

risk free rate. The Organization is not required to adjust comparative periods or provide comparative

period disclosures. The Organization also elected to use the transition package of practical expedients

and short-term lease exemption.

(s) Reclassifications

Reclassifications were made to certain 2021 amounts to conform to the current year presentation.
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(3) Investments

Investments consisted of the following at December 31, 2022 and 2021:

Fair value

2022 2021

Cash equivalents $ 17,974 23,272

Short-term investments 12,790 —

Fixed income 23,363 28,614

Public equity 77,209 104,410

Private equity 8,176 7,197

Alternative hedged strategies 37,479 45,671

Real assets 10,807 10,512

$ 187,798 219,676

The Organization is obligated under certain limited partnership investment fund agreements to advance 

additional funding periodically up to specified levels. Unfunded commitments were $11,736 as of 

December 31, 2022. 

Information pertaining to investment strategies is as follows: 

• Cash equivalents provide short-term liquidity and serve as a funding source for distributions and

rebalancing.

• The short-term investment category includes U.S. Treasury bills with maturities over three months and

provides additional yield on cash not needed for immediate operations.

• The fixed income category comprises strategies that invest principally in debt instruments issued by

governments or companies or through the securitization of certain types of collateral. Fixed income

provides stability and protection in deflationary environments.

• The public equity category comprises investment strategies that invest principally in publicly traded

equity securities. These strategies are generally designed with reference to a benchmark that itself

comprises equity securities that are traded on a recognized exchange. Public equities may include

hedge funds whose investment objectives are benchmarked to equity markets.

• The private equity category comprises investment strategies that invest principally in privately issued

equity-related securities. This category includes strategies that participate in venture capital, leveraged

buyouts and control-oriented distressed situations. This category also includes private company

preferred stock shares.

• The alternative hedged strategies category comprises strategies that seek to generate return streams

that are not highly correlated to broad capital markets and that rely less on the general direction of

capital markets to produce positive returns. These strategies may take a variety of forms, including long
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or short positions in the public equity or credit markets that seek to capitalize on perceived mispricing 

or on the anticipated outcome of an “event,” such as a merger or bankruptcy proceeding. Alternative 

hedged strategies are employed to offer market comparable returns with lower expected volatility. 

• Real assets comprise strategies that invest in securities relating to real estate. This strategy provides

the portfolio with a diversified hedge against inflation as well as a yield component. The real assets

strategy consisted of one real estate investment trust and a mutual fund. Investments within this

strategy include commodities, global natural resource stocks, global infrastructure stocks, U.S. real

estate investment trusts, and treasury inflation protected securities.

The above asset categories are managed to create a portfolio effect to balance risk and return to meet 

investment objectives. 

(4) Fair Value Measurements

The following table presents investments by strategy and fair value as of December 31:

Assets at fair value as of December 31, 2022
Measured

at NAV Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Long-term investment strategies:
Cash equivalents $ — 17,974 — — 17,974

Fixed income:
Domestic mutual funds — 23,363 — — 23,363

Equity:
Global — 6,266 — — 6,266
Hedge funds 70,943 — — — 70,943
Private equity 8,176 — — — 8,176
Alternative hedged strategies 37,479 — — — 37,479

Real assets:
Mutual funds — 10,807 — — 10,807

Short-term investment strategies:
U.S. Treasury bills — 12,790 — — 12,790

Total investments $ 116,598 71,200 — — 187,798

Assets of Pooled Income Funds
(PIF) and Charitable Gift
Annuities (CGA):

Cash equivalents $ — 62 — — 62
Fixed income 507 117 185 — 809
Public equity 1,554 263 — — 1,817

Total assets of PIF

and CGA $ 2,061 442 185 — 2,688

Beneficial interests in perpetual
trusts held by third parties $ — — — 14,383 14,383
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Assets at fair value as of December 31, 2021
Measured

at NAV Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Long-term investment strategies:
Cash equivalents $ — 23,272 — — 23,272

Fixed income:
Domestic mutual funds — 28,614 — — 28,614

Equity:
Global — 7,744 — — 7,744
Hedge funds 96,666 — — — 96,666
Private equity 7,197 — — — 7,197
Alternative hedged strategies 45,671 — — — 45,671

Real assets:
Real estate investment trust 13 — — — 13
Mutual funds — 10,499 — — 10,499

Total investments $ 149,547 70,129 — — 219,676

Assets of Pooled Income Funds
(PIF) and Charitable Gift
Annuities (CGA):

Cash equivalents $ — 165 — — 165
Fixed income 793 9 122 — 924
Public equity 2,342 361 — — 2,703

Total assets of PIF

and CGA $ 3,135 535 122 — 3,792

Beneficial interests in perpetual
trusts held by third parties $ — — — 17,333 17,333

The following table includes a roll-forward for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 for financial 

instruments classified within Level 3. 

Perpetual

trusts

Balance, December 31, 2020 $ 15,946

Net appreciation 1,387

Balance, December 31, 2021 17,333

Net depreciation (2,950) 

Balance, December 31, 2022 $ 14,383
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Investments measured at net asset value contain various monthly, quarterly, and annual redemption 

restrictions with required written notice ranging from 1 to 90 days. In addition, certain of these investments 

are restricted by lockup periods. As of December 31, 2022, the following table summarizes the composition 

of such investments by the various redemption and lockup provisions: 

Days notice for

Redemption period redemption Amount

Monthly:

Public equity – hedge funds 30 $ 16,209

Quarterly:

Equity – hedge funds and alternative hedged strategies 30–60 55,520

Annually:

Alternative hedged strategies 60–90 28,147

Lockup (a):

Equity – hedge funds and alternative hedged strategies Not applicable 8,546

Private equity Not applicable 8,176

Pooled income funds and gift annuity Not applicable 2,061

Total $ 118,659

(a) The amounts subject to redemption lockups at December 31, 2022 that are set to expire are as follows:

Fiscal year Amount

2023:

Private equity $ 8,176

2024 and beyond:

Equities – hedge funds 7,876

Alternative hedged strategies 670

Assets of PIF and CGA 2,061

Total $ 18,783
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(5) Endowments

The Organization’s endowment consists of 96 individual funds established for a variety of purposes and

includes both donor-restricted endowment funds and funds designated by the Board of Trustees to function

as endowments. As required by U.S. GAAP, net assets associated with endowment funds, including funds

designated by the Board of Trustees to function as endowments, are classified and reported based on the

existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions.

(a) Interpretation of Relevant Law

The Organization is subject to the State of Connecticut’s version of the Uniform Prudent Management

of Institutional Funds Act (CUPMIFA). Based on the interpretation of CUPMIFA by the Board of

Trustees of the Organization, applicable accounting guidance, and absent explicit donor stipulations to

the contrary, the Organization classifies net assets of a perpetual nature with donor restrictions as

(a) the original value of gifts donated to the donor restricted endowment, (b) the original value of

subsequent gifts to the donor restricted endowment, and (c) accumulations to the donor restricted

endowment made in accordance with the direction of the applicable donor gift instrument at the time

the accumulation is added to the fund. The remaining portion of the donor-restricted endowment fund

that is not held in perpetuity is classified as net assets with donor restrictions until those amounts are

appropriated for expenditure by the Board of Trustees of the Organization in a manner consistent with

the standard of prudence prescribed by CUPMIFA. In accordance with CUPMIFA, the Organization

considers the following factors in making a determination to appropriate or accumulate donor-restricted

endowment funds:

• The duration and preservation of the fund

• The purposes of the Organization and the donor-restricted endowment fund

• General economic conditions

• The possible effect of inflation and deflation

• The expected total return from income and the appreciation of investments

• Other resources of the Organization

• The investment policies of the Organization

• Funds with deficiencies

From time to time, the fair value of assets associated with individual donor-restricted endowment funds 

may fall below the original dollar value of the endowment fund or the level specifically required to be 

retained by the donor. The Organization considers prudence in maintaining an endowment fund in 

perpetuity. While spending may occur from an endowment fund whose fair value is below its historic 

value, the organization has determined that its policies will continue the perpetual nature of the 

endowment over time. There were no deficiencies as of December 31, 2022 and 2021. 
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(b) Return Objectives and Risk Parameters

The Organization has adopted investment and spending policies for endowment assets that attempt to

provide a predictable stream of funding to programs supported by its endowment while seeking to

maintain the purchasing power of the endowment assets. Endowment assets include those assets of

donor-restricted funds that the Organization must hold in perpetuity or for donor-specified period(s) as

well as board-designated funds. Under this policy, as approved by the Board of Trustees, the

endowment assets are invested in a manner that is intended to produce a real return, net of inflation

and investment management costs of at least 4.5% over the long term while shouldering an acceptable

level of risk and maintaining adequate liquidity. Actual returns in any given year may vary from this

amount.

(c) Strategies Employed for Achieving Objectives

To satisfy its long-term rate-of-return objectives, the Organization relies on a total return strategy in

which investment returns are achieved through both capital appreciation (realized and unrealized) and

current yield (interest and dividends). The Organization targets a diversified asset allocation that places

a greater emphasis on equity-based and alternative investments to achieve its long-term objective

within prudent risk constraints.

(d) Spending Policy and How the Investment Objectives Relate to Spending Policy

The policy governing the investment of the Organization’s endowment is twofold: to provide a

reasonable and prudent level of currently expendable income in accordance with the spending policy

set by the Finance Committee of the Organization’s Board of Trustees at 4.5% (in 2022 and 2021) of

the average of the endowment’s total market value for the 12 quarters ending June 30 of the previous

year in which distribution is planned; and to support the Organization and its mission over the long term

by ensuring that the future growth of the endowment is sufficient to offset normal inflation plus

reasonable spending, thereby preserving the constant dollar value and purchasing power of the

endowment for the benefit of future generations of children in need. If a fund is under the historic dollar

value, the spending rate may be reduced, as best determined to be appropriate, by the Finance

Committee with approval by the Board of Trustees. The Finance Committee must approve any

expenditures of endowment funds in excess of the spending rate.
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At December 31, 2022 and 2021, endowment net assets, excluding beneficial interests in perpetual 

trusts held by third parties, consist of the following: 

2022

Without donor With donor

restrictions restrictions Total

Donor-restricted funds $ — 51,779 51,779

Board-designated funds 106,346 750 107,096

Total endowments $ 106,346 52,529 158,875

2021

Without donor With donor

restrictions restrictions Total

Donor-restricted funds $ — 60,225 60,225

Board-designated funds 129,211 750 129,961

Total endowments $ 129,211 60,975 190,186

Changes in endowment net assets, not including endowment receivables of $5,759 and $600 as of 

December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 

consisted of the following: 

Without donor With donor

restrictions restrictions Total

Endowment net assets, December 31, 2020 $ 121,357 55,419 176,776

Investment return, net 12,668 5,024 17,692

Contributions — 1,382 1,382

Endowment transfers — 781 781

Spending rate (4,814) (1,631) (6,445) 

Endowment net assets, December 31, 2021 129,211 60,975 190,186

Investment loss, net (17,698) (7,079) (24,777) 

Contributions — 392 392

Endowment transfers — — —

Spending rate (5,167) (1,759) (6,926) 

Endowment net assets, December 31, 2022 $ 106,346 52,529 158,875
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(6) Contributions Receivable, Net

Contributions receivable consisted of the following as of December 31, 2022 and 2021:

2022 2021

Contributions receivable:

Due within one year $ 20,500 21,262

Due within two to five years 3,078 3,050

23,578 24,312

Less discount to present value (average rate of 0.10%

to 4.51%) (178) (17)

Pledges receivable, net 23,400 24,295

Charitable remainder unitrusts and

charitable lead annuity trusts receivable 501 511

Total contributions receivable, net $ 23,901 24,806

At December 31, 2022 and 2021, amounts receivable from two donors represents approximately 47% and 

12%, respectively, of the net contributions receivable. 

(7) Property, Plant, and Equipment, Net

Property, plant, and equipment consisted of the following as of December 31, 2022 and 2021:

2022 2021

Land $ 474 476

Buildings and improvements 1,256 69

Software and computer equipment 26,511 23,541

Vehicles and machinery 303 351

Furniture and office equipment 154 155

Agricultural assets 35 —

28,733 24,592

Accumulated depreciation and amortization (22,504) (20,726) 

Construction in progress 326 1,554

Total property, plant, and equipment, net $ 6,555 5,420
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(8) Lines of Credit

In 2022, the Organization maintained one $15,000 revolving line of credit. The line of credit expires

October 26, 2023. Borrowings under the current $15,000 line of credit bear interest equal to the Bloomberg

Short Term Bank Yield Daily Floating Rate plus 0.65%. In addition to the revolving line of credit, the

Organization maintained two standby letters of credit totaling $3,499 during 2022, expiring in July 2023. As

of December 31, 2022 and 2021, there were no borrowings outstanding under such agreements nor any

borrowings during the fiscal years.

(9) Employee Benefits

The Organization maintains two defined-contribution plans covering all eligible employees. The plans

require the Organization to contribute 4% of each eligible employee’s compensation and match 100% of

the first 4% contributed by each eligible employee. During the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021,

total pension expense under the defined contribution plans was $6,609 and $6,328, respectively.

The Organization has self-insured group health benefit plans, including comprehensive medical, dental and

prescription drug coverage. For 2022, the individual stop loss limit is $175 per person and the aggregate

maximum is $14,643 in claims.

(10) Postretirement Benefits Other than Pensions

In addition to providing pension benefits, the Organization provides healthcare benefits for certain retired

employees. To be eligible for these benefits, employees must complete at least 10 years of service and

have reached age 55. Dental, life, and accidental death and dismemberment benefits for participants who

retired before October 1, 1995 are also provided. The expected cost of providing postretirement benefits to

employees and their beneficiaries and covered dependents, if applicable, is accrued during the years that

the employees render service. The following tables set forth amounts relating to postretirement benefits

other than pensions recognized as of and for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021:

2022 2021

Change in benefit obligation:

Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 4,269 5,656

Service cost 888 715

Interest cost 112 128

Plan participant contributions 40 102

Plan amendments — —

Actuarial gain (1,435) (1,805) 

Benefits paid (111) (527) 

Benefit obligation at end of year 3,763 4,269
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2022 2021

Change in plan assets:

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year $ — —

SCUS contribution 71 425

Plan participant contributions 40 102

Benefits paid (111) (527) 

Fair value of plan assets at end of year — —

Postretirement benefits other than pensions

liability $ 3,763 4,269

Components of net periodic benefit cost:

Service cost $ 888 715

Interest cost 112 128

Amortization of prior service cost (50) (50) 

Amortization of net loss (61) 13

Net periodic benefit cost $ 889 806

2022 2021

Assumption used for benefit obligation as of December 31,

2022 and 2021:

Discount rate 4.96 % 2.68 %

Assumptions used for benefit cost for the years ended

December 31, 2022 and 2021:

Discount rate 2.68 % 2.32 %
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2022 2021

The components of postretirement benefit cost other than net

periodic benefit cost for the years ended December 31,

2022 and 2021:

Net actuarial gain $ (1,323) (1,768) 

Total $ (1,323) (1,768) 

Amounts not yet recognized as a component of net periodic

benefit cost as of December 31, 2022 and 2021:

Net actuarial loss $ 2,695 1,372

Total $ 2,695 1,372

The following future benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected 

to be paid as follows: 

Years Amount

2023 $ 197

2024 218

2025 211

2026 213

2027 243

2028–2032 1,522

The benefit obligation takes into account several assumptions, including the incidence and magnitude of 

medical claims by age, medical trend, employee turnover, and mortality. The mortality assumption includes 

projections of improved longevity in the future. The medical trend assumption has limited impact on the 

benefit obligation because of the organization capping its cost portion at January 1, 2001 levels. Effective 

January 1, 2002, retirees began paying for cost increases in excess of the January 1, 2001 levels. 

The Organization has not identified any provisions of the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act and 

the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act that would be expected to have a significant impact on 

the measured obligation at December 31, 2022 and 2021. 
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(11) Net Assets with Donor Restrictions

Net assets with donor restrictions are available for the following purposes for the years ended

December 31, 2022 and 2021, inclusive of appreciation on endowment corpus of $7,752 and $16,981,

respectively.

2022 2021

International country office programs $ 6,397 10,012

U.S. programs 28,644 41,059

International programs including match 2,247 2,683

Sector/thematic programs (emergency, education, health, etc.) 61,468 34,427

GIK programs 7,180 5,677

Other 6,371 25,026

Beneficial interest in perpetual trusts 14,383 17,333

Endowment corpus 44,780 43,994

Endowment corpus contribution receivable 5,759 600

$ 177,229 180,811

(12) Leases

The Organization has entered into operating leases for office space, warehouses, classrooms, and land

which expire at various dates through June 2035. In December 2013, the Organization entered into an

operating lease for 59,110 square feet of space for its main office in Connecticut, expiring in July 2029. The

lease terms provided for a free rent period through July 2014. The Organization entered into an operating

lease in April 2016 for 58,768 square feet of office space in Washington, D.C., expiring in March 2031. The

lease terms provided for a free rent period through June 2017 and an incentive payment. Free rent and

incentive amounts of $2,674 and $2,275, respectively, as of December 31, 2022, are accounted for on a

straight-line basis over the life of the leases and are netted against operating lease right-of-use assets as of

December 31, 2022. Operating leases with lease terms greater than one year are reported as operating

lease right-of-use assets, net and operating lease liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial

position.
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The table below presents a maturity analysis of lease liabilities and a reconciliation of the total amount of 

such liabilities recognized in the consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2022: 

2023 $ 5,683

2024 5,694

2025 5,606

2026 5,477

2027 5,158

Thereafter 14,382

42,000

Less discount for net present value (2,486) 

$ 39,514

Lease costs and other related information for the year ended December 31, 2022 were as follows: 

Lease cost:

Operating lease cost $ 6,336

Other information:

Weighted-average remaining lease term – operating leases 7.5 years

Weighted-average discount rate – operating leases 1.65 %

Operating lease cost included in occupancy line item on the consolidated statement of functional expenses, 

amounted to $5,446 for the year ended December 31, 2021 and future minimum rental lease commitments 

for operating leases at December 31, 2021 were as follows: 

Years Amount

2022 $ 4,719

2023 4,730

2024 4,781

2025 4,846

2026 4,924

Thereafter 19,389

$ 43,389
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(13) Commitments and Contingencies

The Organization is involved in various legal proceedings and claims arising in the normal course of

business. Management does not expect the ultimate resolution of these actions to have a material adverse

effect on the Organization’s financial position, changes in net assets, or cash flows.

The Organization receives funding from government agencies for various activities, which are subject to 

audit. Although such audits may result in disallowance of certain expenditures, which would be absorbed 

by the Organization, in management’s opinion, the ultimate outcome of such audits would not have a 

significant effect on the financial position, changes in net assets, or cash flows of the Organization. 

Government of Bolivia versus Save the Children (Bolivia) 

SCUS was a cooperating sponsor with USAID in connection with USAID’s Food for Peace (USAID/FFP) 

commodity distribution and monetization program in Bolivia. Due to a long unresolved disagreement 

between the Government of Bolivia and the Government of the United States and in contravention of 

bilateral agreements between the two governments, the Government of Bolivia began asserting claims in 

December 2008 of past due taxes on shipments imported by SCUS and other NGOs working with the 

USAID/FFP program. As of December 31, 2022, approximately 60 separate claims related to shipments 

between 2002 and 2009, with a collective value of approximately $12,500, are pending before Bolivian 

courts. SCUS has filed objections and is defending each claim. Additionally, SCUS maintains no material 

assets in country. As of December 31, 2022, no amounts have been accrued relating to this matter due to 

the uncertainty of the outcome. 

(14) Significant Funders and Concentrations of Credit Risk

Revenue from U.S. government grants and contracts, including U.S. government commodities and ocean

freight, represented 47.0% and 46.9% of total operating revenue for 2022 and 2021, respectively. During

the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, 79.5% and 77.6%, respectively, of such U.S. government

revenue were received from USAID through direct and pass‑through awards. At December 31, 2022 and

2021, 64.9% and 59.0% of grants and contracts receivable and 4.3% and 2.7%, respectively, of deferred

revenue received under grants and contracts were related to USAID. The operations of the Organization’s

programs at present levels are dependent upon continued funding from USAID.

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Organization to concentrations of credit risk consist 

principally of foreign cash and cash equivalents. At December 31, 2022 and 2021, 2.0% and 2.9%, 

respectively, of cash and cash equivalents (including liquid investments) were deposited in banks in foreign 

locations. In addition, at December 31, 2022 and 2021, 45.7% and 86.7%, respectively, of the 

Organization’s cash and cash equivalents were held by a single institution, for which $250 was insured by 

the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation. 
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(15) Program Activities

A summary of program activities (without program development and public policy support) by sector and

type for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 is as follows:

2022

Child Rights Child Child Health and

Education Governance Protection Poverty Nutrition Total 2021

Salaries $ 37,618 1 1,503 10,536 10,095 59,753 45,543

Employee fringe benefits 10,739 — 431 3,105 3,322 17,597 14,555

Total salaries and

related expenses 48,357 1 1,934 13,641 13,417 77,350 60,098

Grants and charges from SCI 83,451 5,448 35,721 251,233 295,140 670,993 561,913

Grants to other agencies 60,061 13 4,624 23,533 15,690 103,921 79,524

Commodities and freight — — — 3 — 3 13,446

Supplies, material, etc. 11,427 — 133 3,931 1,461 16,952 9,994

Travel 2,097 — 112 871 695 3,775 1,306

Professional fees 5,336 — 330 4,378 1,936 11,980 7,669

Occupancy 5,943 — 46 352 207 6,548 4,866

Telecommunications 607 — 7 308 35 957 719

Printing, postage, and shipping 1,028 — 66 484 168 1,746 746

Depreciation and amortization 598 — 33 257 148 1,036 1,354

Other 1,472 — 317 736 187 2,712 2,865

Total expenses $ 220,377 5,462 43,323 299,727 329,084 897,973 744,500

(16) Liquidity and Availability

The Organization regularly monitors liquidity required to meet its operating needs and other financial

commitments, while also striving to maximize the investment of its available funds. The Organization

maintains a financial resources policy that outlines acceptable investment vehicles for working capital,

which includes reserves to be spent in the short term on current activities, donor restricted funds meant to

be spent down over a relatively short period of time to fund programs, and operating cash, which includes

gifts without donor restrictions and with restriction or funds for operating needs. Per the policy, the

Organization invests available cash needed for its general expenditures, liabilities, and other obligations in

short-term investments, specifically interest bearing checking accounts, money market funds, treasury bills,

and money market mutual funds.

For purposes of analyzing resources available to meet general expenditures over a 12-month period, the

Organization considers all expenditures related to its ongoing activities of providing services for children

and community self-help assistance in the U.S. and throughout the world, as well as the conduct of

activities to support those service operations, to be general expenditures. In addition to the financial assets

available to meet general expenditures over the next 12 months, the Organization operates with a balanced

budget and anticipates collecting sufficient funds to cover general expenditures not covered by

donor-restricted resources.



SAVE THE CHILDREN FEDERATION, INC. AND RELATED ENTITIES 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

December 31, 2022 

(With summarized comparative financial information as of and 

for the year ended December 31, 2021) 

(Amounts in thousands) 

33 (Continued) 

Financial assets for general expenditures available within one year from December 31 are as follows: 

2022 2021

Cash and cash equivalents $ 121,108 79,026

Grants and contracts receivable 98,067 77,309

Contributions receivable, net 23,901 24,806

Due from Save the Children International, net 14,189 29,217

Assets of pooled income fund and charitable gift annuities 2,688 3,792

Investments 187,798 219,676

Total financial assets 447,751 433,826

Add endowment spending rate 7,456 6,890

Less amounts unavailable for general expenditures within

one year:

Endowment funds restricted by donors of a perpetual

nature (50,539) (44,594) 

Unencumbered liquid assets required for line of credit (35,000) (35,000) 

Contributions due beyond one year (3,401) (3,544) 

Active PIF and CGA not yet terminated (2,444) (2,742) 

Board-designated endowment (106,346) (129,211) 

Board-designated operating reserve (14,611) (13,698) 

Donor restricted endowment appreciation (7,752) (16,981) 

Total financial assets available for general

expenditure within one year 235,114 194,946

Other resources available:

Lines of credit 15,000 15,000

Total financial assets and other resources

available for general expenditure within

one year $ 250,114 209,946

In addition to the financial assets and other resources available for general expenditure within one year, the 

Organization has board-designated endowment net assets without donor restrictions of $106,346 and 

$129,211 in 2022 and 2021, respectively, that, while the Organization does not intend to spend these for 

purposes other than those identified, the amounts could be made available for current operations, with 

Board approval, if necessary. Furthermore, an operating reserve of $14,611 and $13,698 as of 

December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively, is available by action of the Board of Trustees 

and is funded from any annual budgeted or unbudgeted surpluses. Board approval is required to access 

funds from the operating reserve. 
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(17) Subsequent Events

In connection with the preparation of the consolidated financial statements, the Organization evaluated

subsequent events from December 31, 2022 through May 31, 2023, which was the date the consolidated

financial statements were available for issuance. In 2023, the Organization signed an amended lease

agreement to surrender part of the space in Washington, D.C., impacting the future lease commitments

starting January 1, 2024. Additionally, in 2023, the Organization is transitioning the WFP and United

Nations High Commissioner for Refugees portfolios to be directly managed by SCI, thus impacting revenue

and expense accordingly.
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Appalachian Regional Commission:
Appalachian Area Development direct programs 23.002 $ —  377,306  

Total Appalachian Regional Commission —  377,306  

Corporation for National and Community Service:
Foster Grandparent Program direct programs 94.011 —  612,300  

Total Corporation for National and Community Service —  612,300  

Total Foster Grandparent/Senior Companion Cluster —  612,300  

U.S. Agency for International Development (USAID):
USAID Foreign Assistance for Programs Overseas direct programs 98.001 251,747,062  309,179,873  
COVID-19–USAID Foreign Assistance for Programs Overseas direct programs 98.001 11,598,298  13,804,148  

USAID Foreign Assistance for Programs Overseas pass-through programs from:
  Abt Associates-Nepal Strengthening Systems for Better Health (SSBH) 98.001 48977 799,433  1,027,139  

 COVID-19-Abt Associates-Nepal Strengthening Systems for Better Health (SSBH) 98.001 48977 458,951  562,641  
Abt Associates-Zimbabwe Assistance Program In Malaria II 98.001 52405 207,664  330,627  
Action Against Hunger USA (ACF-US)-HQ Holistic Provision of Technical Expertise to Strengthen the Quality and Scale of Nutrition Humanitarian Systems 98.001 CAB2F —  60,802  
Action Contre la Faim International (ACF)-Nigeria Integrated Lifesaving Assistance for Conflict-affected Households in Borno-non-cash commodity food and freight 98.001 Not Specified 127,750  127,750  

  American Red Cross-Vietnam ARC Build Resilience 98.001 Not Specified 190,504  239,736  
CARE-Bangladesh Multipurpose Disaster Shelter Support (MPDS) Activity 98.001 2021-621-US2RB- XXXXXXXXXX-01 354,321  429,788  
CARE-Cyclone IDAI Emergency Response in Mozambique 98.001 720FDA19GR00055 —  (11,794) 
Catholic Relief Services (CRS)-Afghanistan Consortium for Peace and Recovery in Afghanistan 98.001 AF-21-SUBAGR-USAID-SC 1,524,602  1,897,944  
Catholic Relief Services (CRS)-South Sudan Resilience and Food Security Program (RFSP) II 202e 98.001 SS.17.SUBAGR. 8448.P1383-000.01.00 295,395  344,196  
Creative Associates International (CAI)-Guatemala Communities Building Peace Together (CBPT) 98.001 72052018CA00003 —  36  
DT Global (DT Global)-SOMALIA Market Based Resilience for Marginalized Populations (MB-RMP) Activity 98.001 DTG-SOM-MBRMP-2022-003 42,067  59,860  

  Family Health International (FHI)-Kenya Research for Scalable Solutions (R4S) 98.001 PO20000545 —  99,831  
Family Health International (FHI)-Nigeria Addressing Education in Northeast Nigeria Activity (AENN) 98.001 PO19001113 337  (1,036) 
FHI Development 360-Rwanda Schools and Systems Activity 98.001 PO21002410 1,027,071  1,288,826  

  FHI Development 360-Senegal Equal Access to Education 98.001 PO19000035 769,846  980,669  
  FHI Development 360-Uganda Maternal Child Health and Nutrition (MCHN) Activity 98.001 PO20001296 208,890  328,401  

Institute for Technology & Social Change, Inc (TechChange)-Child Protection from Digital Harm Symposium 98.001 Not Specified —  23,260  
  JHPIEGO-HQ Core MOMENTUM Country and Global Leadership (MCGL) 98.001 20-SBA-078 2,892,039  6,369,108  

 COVID-19-JHPIEGO-HQ Core MOMENTUM Country and Global Leadership (MCGL) 98.001 20-SBA-078 —  162,316  
JHPIEGO-Kenya Afya County and National Support Program 98.001 18-SBA-056 —  20  
Johns Hopkins University (JHU)-Bangladesh Social and Behavior Change Communication (SBCC) 98.001 PO 2003451350 223,080  287,462  

  Johns Hopkins University (JHU)-HQ Breakthrough Action (BAA) Multiple Task Orders 98.001 PO 2003798730 5,386,716  8,470,914  
 COVID-19-Johns Hopkins University (JHU)-HQ Breakthrough Action (BAA) Multiple Task Orders 98.001 PO 2003798730 963,857  1,448,593  

    Mercy Corps International (MCI)-Columbia VenEsperanza: Emergency Assistance for People in Need 98.001 SAVE – VENESPERANZA – 33391S001 5,190,193  6,232,331  
Mercy Corps International (MCI)-Columbia VenEsperanza: Emergency Assistance for People in Need 98.001 SAVE THE CHILDREN – VENESPERANZA – 33859S001 397,720  489,524  

  Mercy Corps International (MCI)-Nigeria Feed the Future Rural Resilience Program 98.001 STC RR 33430S002 455,719  579,408  
  Mercy Corps International (MCI)-Uganda FFP Karamoja Development Food Aid Program (DFAP) 98.001 SAVE APOLOU 33133S001 1,448,925  1,881,724  

 COVID-19-Pact, Inc. (PACT)-Myanmar Advancing Community Empowerment 98.001 095-008739 932,536  1,142,220  
Palladium Group Holdings Pty (Palladium)-Malawi MOMENTUM Round 5 APS Component 1 98.001 217803-SAVE-01 43,294  55,510  
Pathfinder International-Egypt Osra Expanded Family Planning Activity 98.001 EGSA0500-EG2203 —  72,097  
Purdue University-LASER Partners for University-Led Solutions Engine (PULSE) 98.001 F9002550402094 12,030  21,494  
Research Triangle Institute International (RTI)-Bangladesh Everyone Learns Together 98.001 1-330-0218578-66881L 29,825  52,441  
Research Triangle Institute International (RTI)-HQ Control and Elimination Program for NTD Project 98.001 10-330-0216642-65443L 235,573  372,060  
Research Triangle Institute International (RTI)-Reinforcement of Literacy in Senegal (RELIS) 98.001 1-330-0218371-66680L 439,488  609,365  
Sesame Workshop (SESAME WOR)-Increasing Resilience Capacities for Conflict-Affected Children & Youth 98.001 Not Specified 794,778  979,955  

    Society for Family Health (SFH)-Nigeria Integrated Child Health and Social Services Award (ICHSSA) 98.001 SFH/ICHSSA3/SR/SCFI/001 65,317  106,691  
University of California Regents-USH Social and Behavior Change Research Award 98.001 705334 3,535  304,930  
COVID-19-University of California Regents-USH Social and Behavior Change Research Award 98.001 705334 —  9,377  

    World Vision-Ethiopia CORE Group Polio Project (CGPP) 98.001 AID-OAA-A-17-00026-SAVE-ETHIOPIA 209,009  269,337  
World Vision-Niger CORE Group Polio Project (CGPP) 98.001 AID-OAA-A-17-00026-STC-NIGER 73,156  99,347  

 COVID-19-World Vision-Nigeria CORE Group Polio Project (CGPP) 98.001 AID-OAA-A-17-00026-SAVE-NIGERIA 351,439  438,659  

Subtotal USAID Foreign Assistance for Programs Overseas pass-through programs 26,155,060  38,243,559  

Total USAID Foreign Assistance for Programs Overseas 289,500,420  361,227,580  

Cooperative Development Program (CDP) direct programs 98.002 459,508  772,483  
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Food for Peace Development Assistance Program (DAP) direct programs:
Food for Peace Development Assistance Program (DAP) 98.007 $ 19,766,133  28,323,501  
COVID-19–Food for Peace Development Assistance Program (DAP) 98.007 697,884  850,670  
Food for Peace Development Assistance Program (DAP)-non-cash commodity food and freight 98.007 4,388,575  4,388,575  

Subtotal Food for Peace Development Assistance Program (DAP) direct programs 24,852,592  33,562,746  

Food for Peace Development Assistance Program (DAP) pass-through programs from:
  ACDI/VOCA-Burkina Faso Victory Against Malnutrition (ViM) 98.007 AID-FFP-A-11-00005 —  94  

ACDI/VOCA-Burkina Faso Victory Against Malnutrition Plus (ViMPlus) 98.007 J2021 1,771,380  2,286,249  
    CARE-Malawi Development Food Security Activity (DFSA) 98.007 72DFFPI 9CA00004 3,995,553  5,067,659  

CARE-Mali Harande Development Food Aid Program (DFAP) 98.007 AID-FFP-A-15-00013 —  40,822  
  Mercy Corps International (MCI)-Kenya Development Food Security Activity (DFSA) 98.007 SCF-NAWIRI-33413S001 3,508,381  4,423,566  

Subtotal Food for Peace Development Assistance Program (DAP) pass-through programs 9,275,314  11,818,390  

Total Food for Peace Development Assistance Program (DAP) 34,127,906  45,381,136  

Total Foreign Food Aid Donation Cluster 34,127,906  45,381,136  

98.UNKNOWN Contracts-Ethiopia Household Economy Approach (HEA) & Household Economy Approach Utilization (HEA-U) direct programs 98.UNKNOWN 269,883  612,440  

98.UNKNOWN Contracts pass-through programs from:
  Abt Associates-Achieving Sustainability through Local Health Systems (ASLHS) Multiple Work Orders 98.UNKNOWN 50823 349,688  750,727  

 COVID-19-Abt Associates-Achieving Sustainability through Local Health Systems (ASLHS) Multiple Work Orders 98.UNKNOWN 50823 —  6,715  
    Creative Associates International (CAI)-Accelerated Quality Learning For Somali Children and Youth 98.UNKNOWN 72062319C00003 382,166  505,511  

 John Snow Inc. (JSI)-Advancing Nutrition Multiple Work Orders 98.UNKNOWN SCF-UAN-1 2,997,134  5,012,499  
  Research Triangle Institute International (RTI)-Cambodia Inclusive Primary Education Activity (IPEA) 98.UNKNOWN 4-330-0218086-66661L 110,295  151,138  

Subtotal 98.UNKNOWN Contracts pass-through programs 3,839,283  6,426,590  

Total 98.UNKNOWN Contracts 4,109,166  7,039,030  

Total U.S. Agency for International Development (USAID) 328,197,000  414,420,229  

U.S. Department of Agriculture:
Child and Adult Care Food Program pass-through programs from:

  State of Arkansas Department of Human Services-USPA CACFP 10.558 Q39 —  109,955  
 State of Louisiana Department of Education-USPA CACFP 10.558 2021-078310712 —  365,362  
  State of Louisiana Department of Education-USPA CACFP 10.558 2020-078310712 —  (4,403) 

  State of North Carolina Department of Health and Human Services-USPA CACFP 10.558 09586 —  165,443  
State of Oklahoma Department of Education-USPA CACFP 10.558 DC-40-093 —  56,749  

Total Child and Adult Care Food Program —  693,106  

Food for Education direct programs:
Food for Education 10.608 11,468,357  15,708,704  
Food for Education-non-cash commodity food and freight 10.608 5,057,251  5,057,251  

Subtotal Food for Education direct programs 16,525,608  20,765,955  

Food for Education pass-through programs from:
  Catholic Relief Services (CRS)-Laos Learning and Engaging All in Primary School (LEAPS) II 10.608 FFE-439-2016/009-00 470,099  583,174  

Catholic Relief Services (CRS)-Laos McGovern-Dole International Food for Education and Child Nutrition Program 10.608 LA.21.SUBAGR.20644.40377.01.01 339,868  424,327  
  Counterpart International-Senegal Children of Tomorrow 10.608 MGD_01 (2,519) (3,063) 

Global Communities (GLOBAL COM)-Guatemala McGovern Dole Food for Education 10.608 GC2788 418,099  525,741  
Global Communities (GLOBAL COM)-Guatemala McGovern Dole Food for Education-non-cash commodity food and freight 10.608 GC2788 258,348  258,348  

  World Vision-Mozambique Educating Children Together, Phase 2 (ECT2) 10.608 FFE-656-2015/011-00-SAVE (581) (707) 

Subtotal Food for Education pass-through programs 1,483,314  1,787,820  

Total Food for Education 18,008,922  22,553,775  

Total U.S. Department of Agriculture 18,008,922  23,246,881  

U.S. Department of Education:
Innovative Approaches to Literacy; Promise Neighborhoods; Full-Service Community Schools; and Congressionally Directed Spending direct programs from:

Innovative Approaches to Literacy; and Promise Neighborhoods 84.215 205,008  233,049  
Innovative Approaches to Literacy; Promise Neighborhoods; Full-Service Community Schools; and Congressionally Directed Spending pass-through programs from:

    Berea College-USPA Perry Promise Neighborhood 84.215 P0026957 649,402  848,242  

Total Innovative Approaches to Literacy; Promise Neighborhoods; Full-Service Community Schools; and Congressionally Directed Spending 854,410  1,081,291  
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Twenty-First Century Community Learning Centers pass-through programs from:
Commonwealth of Kentucky Education and Workforce Development Cabinet-USPA 21st CCLC 84.287 3400002-21 $ 155,490  196,610  

 Commonwealth of Kentucky Education and Workforce Development Cabinet-USPA 21st CCLC 84.287 3400002-20 606,025  834,717  
  Commonwealth of Kentucky Education and Workforce Development Cabinet-USPA 21st CCLC 84.287 3400002-19 35,658  58,245  

 State of California Department of Education-USPA 21st CCLC 84.287 21-14349-AA011-2A 2,641  252,562  
  State of California Department of Education-USPA 21st CCLC 84.287 20-14349-AA011-2A —  (167) 
    State of California Department of Education-USPA 21st CCLC 84.287 19-14349-AA011-2A 205  (1,615) 

State of Mississippi Office of the Governor-USPA 21st CCLC 84.287 Not Specified 12,006  17,203  
State of Mississippi Office of the Governor-USPA 21st CCLC 84.287 Not Specified 12,912  16,016  

    State of Mississippi Office of the Governor-USPA 21st CCLC 84.287 20/1201038250/4807/006 81,191  101,224  
    State of Mississippi Office of the Governor-USPA 21st CCLC 84.287 20/1201038250/4807/007 63,697  80,011  

State of South Carolina Department of Education-USPA 21st CCLC 84.287 H63010006923 226,087  247,743  
 State of South Carolina Department of Education-USPA 21st CCLC 84.287 H63010006922 420,281  512,328  
  State of South Carolina Department of Education-USPA 21st CCLC 84.287 H63010006921 10,255  10,300  

State of Tennessee Department of Education-USPA 21st CCLC 84.287 33109-02519 20,530  27,940  
    State of Tennessee Department of Education-USPA 21st CCLC 84.287 33109-01220 180,879  226,174  
    State of Tennessee Department of Education-USPA 21st CCLC 84.287 33109-01320 136,658  160,906  

State of Tennessee Department of Education-USPA 21st CCLC 84.287 Not Specified 186,283  195,193  
State of Tennessee Department of Education-USPA 21st CCLC 84.287 Not Specified 19,835  22,863  
State of Tennessee Department of Education-USPA 21st CCLC 84.287 Not Specified 137,710  152,071  

 State of Texas Department of Education-USPA 21st CCLC 84.287 226950267110044 321,838  416,360  
State of West Virginia Department of Education-USPA 21st CCLC 84.287 GRTAWD04022300000850 18,519  20,000  
State of West Virginia Department of Education-USPA 21st CCLC 84.287 GRTAWD04022300002071 144,338  166,204  
State of West Virginia Department of Education-USPA 21st CCLC 84.287 GRTAWD04022300002068 43,202  51,514  
State of West Virginia Department of Education-USPA 21st CCLC 84.287 GRTAWD04022300002069 40,526  44,944  

 State of West Virginia Department of Education-USPA 21st CCLC 84.287 GRTAWD04022200002180 23,348  46,539  
 State of West Virginia Department of Education-USPA 21st CCLC 84.287 GRTAWD04022200002181 30,356  42,567  
 State of West Virginia Department of Education-USPA 21st CCLC 84.287 GRTAWD04022200002198 73,162  100,828  
 State of West Virginia Department of Education-USPA 21st CCLC 84.287 GRTAWD04022200002199 74,680  106,662  
 State of West Virginia Department of Education-USPA 21st CCLC 84.287 GRTAWD04022200002200 5,144  10,867  

Washington Office of Superintendent of Public Instructions (OSPI)-USPA 21st CCLC 84.287 0991735 24,515  31,842  
 Washington Office of Superintendent of Public Instructions (OSPI)-USPA 21st CCLC 84.287 0991722 200,545  253,251  

Total Twenty-First Century Community Learning Centers 3,308,516  4,401,902  

Gaining Early Awareness and Readiness for Undergraduate Program pass-through programs from:
  Berea College-USPA GEAR UP East 2019-2023 84.334 SAVE2019-2023GUEK 190,084  269,352  

  Berea College-USPA GEAR UP Opportunity 2019-2025 84.334 SAVE2019-2025GUOP 274,778  406,140  
Berea College-USPA GEAR UP Promise Zone 2021-2022 84.334 SAVE2021-2022GUPZ 273,211  383,710  

  Berea College-USPA GEAR UP SOAR 2019-2025 84.334 SAVE2019-2025GUSO 182,466  250,325  
    Berea College-USPA GEAR UP SOAR 2019-2025 84.334 SAVE2019-2025GUSO2 234,095  313,094  

Total Gaining Early Awareness and Readiness for Undergraduate Program 1,154,634  1,622,621  

Education Stabilization Fund (ESF) pass-through programs from:

Governor’s Emergency Education Relief (GEER) Fund:
  COVID-19–State of Mississippi Office of the Governor-USPA Governor’s Emergency Education Relief (GEER) Fund 84.425C GEER-00004 258,609  303,191  

COVID-19–State of Tennessee Department of Education-USPA Governor’s Emergency Education Relief (GEER) Fund 84.425C 2104433103GRF0 438,584  616,105  
Elementary and Secondary School Emergency Relief (ESSER) Fund:

COVID-19–State of Arkansas Department of Education-USPA Elementary and Secondary School Emergency Relief (ESSER) Fund 84.425D F.0500.S425D21-3 (3,366) (3,437) 
American Rescue Plan- Elementary and Secondary School Emergency Relief (ARP ESSER) Fund:

COVID-19-Commonwealth of Kentucky Education and Workforce Development Cabinet-USPA American Rescue Plan – Elementary and Secondary School
Emergency Relief (ARP ESSER) 84.425U 4300005-21, 4300006-21, 4300007-21 4,641,052  5,698,806  

COVID-19-State of California Department of Education-USPA American Rescue Plan – Elementary and Secondary School Emergency Relief (ARP ESSER) 84.425U 21 15648 AAO11 EZ 1,002,596  1,923,356  
COVID-19-State of California Department of Education-USPA American Rescue Plan – Elementary and Secondary School Emergency Relief (ARP ESSER) 84.425U 22 15648 AAO11 EZ 502,974  553,271  
COVID-19-State of South Carolina Department of Education-USPA American Rescue Plan – Elementary and Secondary School Emergency Relief (ARP ESSER) 84.425U Not Specified 288,437  324,975  
COVID-19-Washington Office of Superintendent of Public Instr-USPA American Rescue Plan – Elementary and Secondary School Emergency Relief (ARP ESSER) 84.425U 139039 57,833  73,885  
COVID-19-Washington Office of Superintendent of Public Instr-USPA American Rescue Plan – Elementary and Secondary School Emergency Relief (ARP ESSER) 84.425U 139019 239,398  291,913  

Total Education Stabilization Fund (ESF) 7,426,117  9,782,065  

Total U.S. Department of Education 12,743,677  16,887,879  

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services:
Protecting & Improving Health Globally: Public Health Impact direct programs 93.318 787,437  978,621  
Mental Health Research Grants pass-through programs from:

The Board of Trustees of the University of Illinois-USPA NIH Psychosocial 93.242 110043-19043 —  26,905  
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Temporary Assistance for Needy Families pass-through programs from:
State of Arkansas Division of Workforce Services-USPA TANF 93.558 SFY2024 STC TANF-001 $ 153,910  176,634  

  State of Arkansas Division of Workforce Services-USPA TANF 93.558 4600043158 220,587  429,424  
State of Mississippi Department of Human Services-USPA Mississippi TANF 93.558 6026130/6026131 194,881  219,490  

  State of Mississippi Department of Human Services-USPA TANF 93.558 6020624/6020625 704,711  1,006,215  
    State of Tennessee Department of Human Services-USPA Two Generation Approach (2Gen) 93.558 34530-73020 966,560  1,168,311  

Total Temporary Assistance for Needy Families 2,240,649  3,000,074  

Child Care and Development Block Grant pass-through programs from:
  State of Arkansas Department of Human Services-USPA Early Steps to School Success (ESSS) 93.575 4600045562 363,271  536,753  

Head Start direct programs 93.600 —  28,805,934  
COVID-19–Head Start direct programs 93.600 —  2,060,724  

Total Head Start Programs —  30,866,658  

Improving Student Health & Academic Achievement with Nutrition pass-through programs from:
Commonwealth of Kentucky Education and Workforce Development Cabinet-USPA Healthy Schools 2021-2022 93.981 2200001-21 —  5,000  

93.UNKNOWN Contracts-Temporary Assignment of Staff to U.S. Department of Health and Human Services 93.UNKNOWN —  114,647  

Total U.S. Department of Health and Human Services 3,391,357  35,528,658  

U.S. Department of Labor:
WIOA Dislocated Worker National Reserve Demonstration Grants direct programs 17.280 510,755  1,151,110  

Total U.S. Department of Labor 510,755  1,151,110  

U.S. Department of State:
Investing in People in The Middle East and North Africa direct programs 19.021 346,598  407,929  
Overseas Refugee Assistance Programs for East Asia direct programs 19.511 1,097,303  1,327,052  
Overseas Refugee Assistance Programs for Africa direct programs 19.517 10,089,545  12,368,607  
Overseas Refugee Assistance Programs for Western Hemisphere direct programs 19.518 6,704,073  8,264,339  

Overseas Refugee Assistance Program for Near East direct programs 19.519 —  11,558  
Overseas Refugee Assistance Program for Near East pass-through programs from:

  Norwegian Refugee Council-Iraq Education Consortium Together Education Achieves More (TEAM) 19.519 IQFM2017 2,410,682  2,970,238  

Total Overseas Refugee Assistance Program for Near East 2,410,682  2,981,796  

Overseas Refugee Assistance Programs for Europe direct programs 19.520 (16,660) (19,590) 
Overseas Refugee Assistance Program for Strategic Global Priorities direct programs 19.522 341,468  568,616  
Office of Global Women’s Issues direct programs 19.801 58,741  69,652  

Total U.S. Department of State 21,031,750  25,968,401  

Total Expenditures of Federal Awards $ 383,883,461  518,192,764  

See accompanying Independent Auditors’ Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program, Report on Internal Control over Compliance, and Report on Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards required by the Uniform Guidance and Computation of Indirect Cost
and the Notes to the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards
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(1) Basis of Presentation 

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards (the Schedule) includes the federal award 

activity (including indirect cost recovery amounts) of Save the Children Federation, Inc. and related entities 

(the Organization), and is prepared on the accrual basis of accounting. The information in the Schedule is 

presented in accordance with the requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, 

Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards 

(Uniform Guidance). Program income is recorded in the Schedule when expended. Negative amounts 

listed on the Schedule represent adjustments to amounts included on prior years’ Schedules. Catalog of 

Federal Domestic Assistance (CFDA) also known as Assistance Listing Numbers (ALN) are provided when 

available. 

(2) Valuation of Nonmonetary Assistance 

Agricultural and other commodities are recorded at an ascribed amount representing the fair value 

determined by the Commodity Credit Corporation (as an agency of the U.S. government). Donated freight 

is recorded based on the carrier’s bill of lading. The value of nonmonetary assistance received for the year 

ended December 31, 2022 was approximately $9.8 million. 

(3) Indirect Cost Rate 

Save the Children Federation, Inc. (SCUS) has elected not to use the 10% de minimis indirect cost rate 

allowed under the Uniform Guidance. In connection with SCUS’s ongoing relationship with the United 

States Agency for International Development and the regulatory provision for its negotiated indirect cost 

rate agreement (NICRA), SCUS has been involved in finalizing provisional rates each year. As of 

December 31, 2022, SCUS had finalized rates through fiscal year 2019, and provisional rates for fiscal 

years 2020, 2021, and 2022. In May 2023, SCUS received finalized rates for fiscal year 2020 and 2021, 

and has been given a new provisional rate for fiscal year 2022 and onward until amended. Provisional rates 

provided by the government are charged to the grants and adjusted in the period after the final rate is 

determined. Related entity SCUS Head Start Programs, Inc. (Head Start) has elected to use the 10% de 

minimis indirect cost rate and other specific programs follow statutory exclusions on the use of NICRA. 



SAVE THE CHILDREN FEDERATION, INC. AND RELATED ENTITIES

Schedule of Computation of Indirect Cost Rate

Year ended December 31, 2022

Direct cost pools
Private Private Total

Direct direct fund- indirect
Total grants Subgrants program raising expenses

Total expenses per the statement of activities $ 1,107,946,650  
Less unallowable expenses and other exclusions (175,294,821) 

Allowable expenses $ 932,651,829  

Allowable expenses allocated to cost groups $ 932,651,829  383,692,429  165,966,386  195,921,802  44,215,561  142,855,651  
Adjustments for match, flow-through expense elimination, and field office

services reclassed to fund-raising (3,808,002) 1,467,583  —  (248,218) —  (5,027,367) 

Modified total direct costs 928,843,827  385,160,012  165,966,386  195,673,584  44,215,561  137,828,284  

Distribution of indirect expenses to direct cost groups* —  87,663,779  11,648,830  30,320,340  8,195,335  (137,828,284) 

Total costs $ 928,843,827  472,823,791  177,615,216  225,993,924  52,410,896  —  

Indirect cost rate for direct grants and subgrants are as follows:
Indirect $ 87,663,779  22.76 % 11,648,830  7.02 %
Direct grants/subgrants 385,160,012  165,966,386  

* Indirect costs are allocated using the multiple allocation base method provided for in Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations, Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements,
Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards.

See accompanying Independent Auditors’ Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program, Report on Internal Control over Compliance, and Report on Schedule of
Expenditures of Federal Awards Required by the Uniform Guidance and Computation of Indirect Cost.
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Independent Auditors’ Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on 

Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements 

Performed in Accordance With Government Auditing Standards 

The Board of Trustees 

Save the Children Federation, Inc.: 

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America 

and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the 

Comptroller General of the United States, the consolidated financial statements of Save the Children 

Federation, Inc. and related entities (the Organization), which comprise the Organization’s consolidated 

statement of financial position as of December 31, 2022, and the related consolidated statements of activities, 

functional expenses, and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial 

statements, and have issued our report thereon dated May 31, 2023. That report contained an unmodified 

opinion on those consolidated financial statements with an emphasis of matter paragraph regarding the 

Organization’s adoption of Accounting Standards Update No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842). 

Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the consolidated financial statements, we considered the Organization’s 

internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the consolidated financial 

statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Organization’s internal 

control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Organization’s internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or 

employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, 

misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in 

internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the Organization’s 

financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency 

is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, 

yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section 

and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or 

significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal 

control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies 

may exist that were not identified. 

Report on Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Organization’s consolidated financial statements 

are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, 

regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect 

on the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an 

objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no 

instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing 

Standards. 

KPMG LLP
345 Park Avenue
New York, NY 10154-0102

KPMG LLP, a Delaware limited liability partnership and a member firm of  
the KPMG global organization of independent member firms affiliated with  
KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. 
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Purpose of This Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and 

the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the Organization’s internal 

control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government 

Auditing Standards in considering the Organization’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this 

communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

 

New York, New York 

May 31, 2023 
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Independent Auditors’ Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program; 

Report on Internal Control over Compliance; and Report on Schedule of 

Expenditures of Federal Awards Required by the Uniform Guidance 

 

The Board of Trustees 

Save the Children Federation, Inc.: 

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program 

Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 

We have audited Save the Children Federation, Inc. and related entities’ (the Organization’s) compliance with 

the types of compliance requirements identified as subject to audit in the OMB Compliance Supplement that 

could have a direct and material effect on each of the Organization’s major federal programs for the year ended 

December 31, 2022. The Organization’s major federal programs are identified in the summary of auditors’ 

results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. 

In our opinion, the Organization complied, in all material respects, with the compliance requirements referred to 

above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major federal programs for the year ended 

December 31, 2022. 

Basis for Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 

States of America (GAAS); the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 

Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the audit requirements of Title 2 

U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit 

Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Our responsibilities under those standards and the 

Uniform Guidance are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section of 

our report. 

We are required to be independent of the Organization and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in 

accordance with relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have 

obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on compliance for each major federal 

program. Our audit does not provide a legal determination of the Organization’s compliance with the 

compliance requirements referred to above. 

Responsibilities of Management for Compliance 

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the design, 

implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the requirements of laws, 

statutes, regulations, rules and provisions of contracts or grant agreements applicable to the Organization’s 

federal programs. 

KPMG LLP
345 Park Avenue
New York, NY 10154-0102

KPMG LLP, a Delaware limited liability partnership and a member firm of  
the KPMG global organization of independent member firms affiliated with  
KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. 
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Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the compliance 

requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an opinion on the 

Organization’s compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not 

absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS, 

Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance will always detect material noncompliance when it 

exists. The risk of not detecting material noncompliance resulting from fraud is higher than for that resulting 

from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 

internal control. Noncompliance with the compliance requirements referred to above is considered material if 

there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, it would influence the judgment made by a 

reasonable user of the report on compliance about the Organization’s compliance with the requirements of 

each major federal program as a whole. 

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance, 

we: 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

• Identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and design and 

perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, 

evidence regarding the Organization’s compliance with the compliance requirements referred to above and 

performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. 

• Obtain an understanding of the Organization’s internal control over compliance relevant to the audit in 

order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to test and report on 

internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of 

expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Organization’s internal control over compliance. 

Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 

planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in internal 

control over compliance that we identified during the audit. 

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance 

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 

compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned 

functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal 

program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a 

combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that 

material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or 

detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a 

deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance 

requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control over 

compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the Auditors’ 

Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in 

internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control 

over compliance. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control 

over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses, as defined above. However, material 

weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control over compliance may exist that were not identified. 
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Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control 

over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing of 

internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the Uniform 

Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose. 

Report on Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards Required by the Uniform Guidance 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of the Organization as of and for the year ended 

December 31, 2022, and have issued our report thereon dated May 31, 2023, which contained an unmodified 

opinion on those consolidated financial statements with an emphasis of matter paragraph regarding the 

Organization’s adoption of Accounting Standards Update No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842). Our audit was 

conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements as a whole. The 

accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards is presented for purposes of additional analysis as 

required by the Uniform Guidance and is not a required part of the consolidated financial statements. Such 

information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying 

accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements. The information has been 

subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the consolidated financial statements and certain 

additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying 

accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements or to the consolidated 

financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with GAAS. In our opinion, the 

schedule of expenditures of federal awards is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the consolidated 

financial statements as a whole. 

 

New York, New York 

August 7, 2023 
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(1) Summary of Auditors’ Results 

(a) Type of report issued on whether the consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance 

with generally accepted accounting principles: Unmodified 

(b) Internal control deficiencies over financial reporting disclosed by the audit of the consolidated financial 

statements: 

• Material weaknesses: No 

• Significant deficiencies: None reported 

(c) Noncompliance which is material to the consolidated financial statements: No 

(d) Internal control deficiencies over each major program disclosed by the audit: 

• Material weaknesses: No 

• Significant deficiencies: None reported 

(e) Type of report issued on compliance for each major program: Unmodified 

(f) Audit findings that are required to be reported in accordance with 2 CFR 200.516(a): No 

(g) Major programs: 

Assistance

listing number Funder Program title Amount

98.001 U.S. AID Foreign Assistance for Programs Overseas $ 361,227,580  

93.600 U.S. Department of Health

and Human Services Head Start 30,866,658  

84.425 U.S. Department of Education Education Stabilization Fund including sub-programs:

American Rescue Plan - Elementary and Secondary

School Emergency Relief (ARP ESSER) Fund, Elementary

and Secondary School Emergency Relief   (ESSER) Fund,

Governor's Emergency Education Relief (GEER) Fund 9,782,065  

93.558 U.S. Department of Health

and Human Services Temporary Assistance for Needy Families 3,000,074  

 

(h) Dollar threshold used to distinguish between Type A and Type B programs: $3,000,000 

(i) Auditee qualified as a low-risk auditee: Yes 
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(2) Findings Relating to the Consolidated Financial Statements Reported in Accordance with 

Government Auditing Standards 

None 

(3) Findings and Questioned Costs Relating to Federal Awards 

None 




